School Improvement Tool Elaborations

Student engagement and wellbeing

Background report and literature review



School Improvement Tool Elaborations: Student engagement and wellbeing. Background report and literature review Fabienne van der Kleij, Pauline Taylor-Guy, Tanya Vaughan, Marijne Medhurst and Christina Rogers

The Australian Council for Educational Research Limited © 2023 19 Prospect Hill Road Camberwell VIC 3124 Phone: (03) 9277 5555 ABN 19 004 398 145

www.acer.org

ISBN 978-1-74286-690-1



With the exception of any material protected by a trademark, and where otherwise noted, all material presented in this document is provided under a Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial NoDerivatives 4.0 International Licence https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0

The Australian Council for Educational Research must be attributed as the copyright holder of this publication. To request use outside this licence, email: permissions@acer.org

Recommended citation (APA 7th edition)

Van der Kleij, F., Taylor-Guy, P., Vaughan, T., Medhurst, M., & Rogers, C. (2023). School Improvement Tool Elaborations: Student engagement and wellbeing. Background report and literature review. Australian Council for Educational Research. https://doi.org/10.37517/978-1-74286-690-1

Acknowledgement

This review was undertaken to inform the Australian Council for Educational Research and Queensland Department of Education's 2022 *School Improvement Tool Elaborations: Student engagement and wellbeing.* https://research.acer.edu.au/tll_misc/38

Contents

Introduction		1
Methodolog	ЭУ	2
Student engagement		3
Domain 1	Driving an explicit improvement agenda	3
Domain 2	Analysing and discussing data	3
Domain 3	Promoting a culture of learning	4
Domain 4	Targeting school resources	5
Domain 5	Building an expert teaching team	6
Domain 6	Leading systematic curriculum implementation	6
Domain 7	Differentiating teaching and learning	7
Domain 8	Implementing effective pedagogical practices	8
Domain 9	Building school-community partnerships	9
Student wel	Ilbeing	10
Domain 1	Driving an explicit improvement agenda	10
Domain 2	Analysing and discussing data	10
Domain 3	Promoting a culture of learning	1
Domain 4	Targeting school resources	1
Domain 5	Building an expert teaching team	12
Domain 6	Leading systematic curriculum implementation	12
Domain 7	Differentiating teaching and learning	13
Domain 8	Implementing effective pedagogical practices	13
Domain 9	Building school-community partnerships	13
Summary		14
References		15

Introduction

The critical importance of supporting student engagement and wellbeing is widely and increasingly recognised as a key facet in improving student learning. Although there was a clear focus on student engagement and wellbeing in the *National School Improvement Tool* (NSIT; Masters, 2016a), the Queensland Department of Education identified the need for more specific evidence-informed guidance for school leaders and teachers in 2018. This explicit focus on student engagement and wellbeing is particularly important to achieving equitable outcomes for all students – an issue amplified by the Covid-19 pandemic.

The Queensland Department of Education engaged the Australian Council for Educational Research (ACER) to "elaborate" the evidence underpinning the *National School Improvement Tool* as it relates to student wellbeing and engagement. The intended outcome was to produce a resource that describes the related practices or "elaborations" to support schools to improve their practice. This report provides an overview of the background for developing the elaborations and presents key findings from the literature review that informed the development of this resource.

The development of the elaborations coincided with the development of the School Improvement Tool (SIT), as the second iteration of the NSIT. A comprehensive literature review (Van der Kleij et al., 2023) was undertaken to inform revisions from NSIT to SIT. The elaborations were developed using key insights from this literature review. Although the resource is entitled School Improvement Tool Elaborations: Student engagement and wellbeing, the first edition of this resource retains some features of the NSIT, notably the domain names and visual design. This is reflective of the fact that the elaborations were published in 2022, before the SIT had been fully developed (published and officially launched mid-2023; ACER, 2023). Nevertheless, the elaborations are based on the same contemporary evidence base and have been developed to be used alongside the SIT. The updated domain names in this document reflect this alignment.

The overarching research questions were:

- How do student engagement, wellbeing and learning outcomes relate?
- What is the evidence relating to whole-of-school approaches to student engagement and wellbeing?
- What are the evidence-based practices that lift student engagement and wellbeing, alongside academic gain, as aligned with each of the 9 National School Improvement Tool domains?

A focus on student wellbeing is embedded throughout the (National) School Improvement Tool. This focus is grounded in the research which supports the view that all students are capable of success in supportive circumstances. The basis for this focus comes from positive psychology research, and is associated with positive mood and attitude, resilience, satisfaction with self and relationships, and experiences at school (Dix et al., 2020; Durlak et al., 2011; Noble & McGrath, 2010; O'Flaherty & McCormack, 2019). Overall, a positive psychology approach framed the development of the elaborations, taking a holistic and preventative rather than remediation orientation to supporting student engagement and wellbeing (Gersch, 2009).

The literature review outlines the evidence that underpins the development of a set of evidenceinformed elaborations, or specific practices, that support student engagement and wellbeing across the 9 domains of the SIT. These observable, measurable practices to support student engagement and wellbeing have been developed from a review of relevant literature in the areas of socio-emotional learning (SEL), health and wellbeing, student engagement and a sense of belonging, and motivations for engagement. They also take account of commissioned research reports by the Queensland Department of Education and the Department's (2018) approach to student learning and wellbeing across the whole school: creating safe, supportive, and inclusive environments; building the capability of staff, students, and the school community; and developing strong systems for early intervention. Although the elaborations were developed in the Queensland context, they draw upon contemporary international research, and are broadly applicable across diverse contexts.

Methodology

The elaborations were developed using a design research methodology (McKenney & Reeves, 2012), which incorporated iterative rounds of literature review, stakeholder consultation and co-construction. Initial stages of development involved an extensive review of international evidence in the areas of school improvement, socio-emotional learning, health and wellbeing, student engagement and a sense of belonging, and motivations for engagement. This literature review built on the comprehensive review of research (Van der Kleij et al., 2023) that underpins the *School Improvement Tool* (ACER, 2023). Findings from a commissioned report by the Queensland Department of Education were also reviewed (Deloitte Access Economics [DAE], 2018).

Following this initial examination of key evidence, multiple rounds of literature review and stakeholder consultation were undertaken. Consistent with a qualitative research methodology, literature was sourced and read to saturation (Saunders et al., 2018), that is, until no novel themes were evident. Targeted searches were conducted to retrieve relevant literature whenever gaps were identified. The elaborations were iteratively refined and co-constructed in several rounds of consultation with key Queensland Department of Education stakeholder groups representing a broad range of voices, including Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander voices. All revisions following consultation took account of relevant research evidence.

The characteristics of the School Improvement Tool (ACER, 2023) make explicit the measurable, observable practices that impact on improved student outcomes across 9 interrelated domains. Care has been taken in drafting these elaborations to ensure that they are drawn directly from the research evidence and written with the clarity and precision to drive improvements in practice. In developing the elaborations, careful attention was paid to ensure close alignment with the SIT and broader evidence base, as well as cohesion across elaborations for each of the domains, which at times required extrapolation. For example, consultation feedback highlighted various gaps in Domain 4, targeted use of school resources. Consequently, further elaborations were developed to ensure a coherent representation of effective practices across the tool. In addition, stakeholder consultations identified the need to ensure a consistent focus on engagement and wellbeing throughout. Given their interrelatedness, this consistent focus was adopted. The literature review

reported here provides an overview of key insights specific to student engagement and wellbeing. To fully understand the broader evidence base from which the elaborations were developed, interested readers are referred to the School Improvement Tool literature review (Van der Kleij et al., 2023).

Consistent with ACER's approach to developing improvement tools and resources, the elaborations present evidence-based practices in optimising student engagement, wellbeing and learning outcomes. Evidence-based in this instance is not to say that these elaborations are to be mechanistically implemented without agency or regard of evidence more broadly (an unproductive stance as per evidence-based education paradigm; McKnight & Morgan, 2020). Rather, the elaborations were developed in a way that is contextneutral and encourages tailored solutions as appropriate to the school context. It recognises the unique challenges within diverse contexts, as well as varying levels and complexity of student need. The 9 SIT domains and underpinning evidence review (Van der Kleij et al., 2023) provided the overarching framework for identifying, selecting, and synthesising research evidence.

The remainder of this document provides a synthesis of research evidence that informed the development of the elaborations in relation to student engagement and wellbeing for each SIT domain respectively.

Student engagement

Student engagement was conceptualised following Fredricks et al. (2004), who distinguish cognitive, emotional and behavioural dimensions of engagement. Cognitive engagement relates to motivation to learn, as well as persistence and resilience in learning. Emotional engagement is about a students' relations with learning and others. Behavioural engagement captures the participation in various areas of schooling, including academic and social activities. This section provides a narrative overview of the research evidence specific to student engagement as aligned to each of the SIT domains.

Domain 1 Driving an explicit improvement agenda

In recent decades, there has been a shift from a focus on school improvement focused on academic attainment to a focus on more holistic outcomes which underpin students' potential to contribute to society (Robinson, 2007). Given the interconnectedness of student engagement, wellbeing and academic outcomes (Centre for Education Statistics and Evaluation [CESE], 2015b), a school's improvement agenda needs to articulate with all of these outcomes. Specific to student engagement, research highlights the importance of a shared school-wide commitment to enhancing student engagement (Fullan & Hargreaves, 2016; Houghton & Anderson, 2017), high expectations for student attendance (Epstein & Sheldon, 2002) and clear behavioural expectations and rules (CESE, 2017). This extends to responsibilities of families in optimising student engagement (Hancock & Zubrick, 2015). Monitoring student engagement is the responsibility of every educator. In addition, schools need to have effective internal collaborative structures and have appropriate systems in place for referral to internal and external support providers (DAE, 2018).

Harris et al. (2013) highlighted the importance of students' voices in shaping a school improvement agenda. They identified that student voices are often absent in school improvement discussions. However, considering voices of "those most directly affected by school change" (p. 1) can provide highly valuable insights for school improvement. This requires a shift in mindset, where students are viewed as "legitimate, crucial contributors to school improvement" (p. 2).

Domain 2 Analysing and discussing data

The importance of data use for the school-wide monitoring of student outcomes is widely acknowledged (Goss & Hunter, 2015; Hattie, 2012; Robinson et al., 2017; Schildkamp, 2019; Yoon, 2016). Yet, research suggests that schools tend to place a strong focus on analysing and discussing standardised assessment data (Datnow & Park, 2018). If data are to genuinely guide improvement, educators need to look beyond achievement outcomes and consider data more broadly, including data about student attendance levels (Hattie et al., 2015; Masters, 2016b) as well as student engagement more broadly, for example by capturing student voice (Queensland Department of Education, 2019; Taylor & Parsons, 2011) as well as anecdotal evidence (DAE, 2018). In addition, data needs to capture engagement holistically to enable inclusion of those who may be quietly disengaged rather than only those who display disruptive behaviour (Goss & Sonnemann, 2017). Student engagement is best measured using multiple data sets that draw upon quantitative and qualitative indicators of engagement (Queensland Department of Education, 2019; Taylor & Parsons, 2011). Importantly, data from different sources need to be triangulated to enable effective data use (Lai & Schildkamp, 2013; Schildkamp, 2019; Thessin, 2015).

Domain 3 Promoting a culture of learning

Creating a school-wide learning culture is one of the most important mechanisms through which school leaders can have a positive impact on student achievement (Day et al., 2016). "Successful principals build cultures that promote both staff and student engagement in learning" (Day et al., 2016, p. 253). Perhaps not surprisingly, there is an extensive body of research that links school culture and student engagement.

Key research themes in relation to school culture and student engagement are an inclusive and orderly environment, high expectations, and strong interpersonal relationships. For example, evidence from student surveys suggests that effective schools are more likely to have an environment where students feel included, actively participate in the academic program as well as in extra-curricular activities, feel appropriately challenged, exhibit positive behaviour and positive attitudes to academic work, and have good relations with their teachers (CESE, 2015a). Research highlights the importance of whole-school strengths-based approaches (Noble & McGrath, 2010) and school-wide expectations for student engagement (Hattie et al., 2015) and behaviour (CESE, 2017; Cole, 2012; Leithwood, 2011; Taylor & Parsons, 2011), high expectations for student success (McAleavy & Elwick, 2016; Rodríguez, 2008; Taylor & Parsons, 2011) and an orderly school and classroom environment (CESE, 2017; Hattie, 2009, 2012; Korpershoek et al., 2016; McAleavy & Elwick, 2016; Noble & McGrath, 2010; Sammons et al., 1995; Taylor & Parsons, 2011). Specific school-wide student belonging and engagement programs were found to have substantial impact on academic achievement (Dix et al., 2020).

CESE (2017) identified that the recent international literature promotes whole-school preventative approaches to student behaviour. Ideally, these preventative approaches include all relevant stakeholders in the school community, including parents. Specific to the Australian context, research highlights the importance of considering Indigenous voices in policy development and implementation to optimise a school's learning culture (O'Brien & Trudgett, 2018). A productive school climate is nurtured by creating a sense of belonging and participation (Allen et al., 2018; Sammons et al., 1995). In addition, research demonstrates the influence of classroom management on students' feeling of connectedness in the school (CESE, 2015b). Further, empirical studies consistently show positive associations between classroom management, student engagement and positive student behaviour, and learning outcomes (Oliver et al., 2011). Caring school leadership has been associated with an increased sense of belonging of students within the school community. Caring school leadership is characterised by a core focus on enabling personal growth to optimise the broad educational outcomes of schools in the broadest sense through provision of targeted support and building of productive relationships. A large-scale analysis of teacher survey and student achievement data showed significant positive relationships between caring principal leadership, student academic support and teacher collective responsibility, and student achievement outcomes (Louis et al., 2016).

In addition, research shows strong associations between fair student treatment and student engagement. Importantly, what is considered to be fair by students may differ from what teachers consider to be fair. From the perspective of students, being treated fairly includes treating all students respectfully and with dignity in social interactions (Gibbs & Poskitt, 2010).

Although student attendance does not equal engagement, research suggests that student attendance levels are significantly associated with academic outcomes (Leithwood, 2011). Based on a quantitative analysis of student survey data and assessment data, CESE (2017) identified a statistically significant relation between 3 indicators of student engagement and achievement outcomes. The indicators of engagement are *positive student behaviour*, student attendance and academic interest and motivation. Evidence-informed strategies to improve student attendance include: (1) setting high expectations for attendance; (2) listening to student perspectives to understand reasons for non-attendance; (3) promoting social and emotional engagement to support student wellbeing and a sense of belonging to the school community; (4) promoting positive and caring relationships with teachers; and (5) increasing collaboration with and participation of parents/families (CESE, 2017).

The implications of managing a lack of student engagement and/or a lack of positive student behaviour must be carefully considered. Whenever students display disruptive behaviours, it is vital to consider reasons for these behaviours considering students' histories and contextual factors (McGrath & Van Bergen, 2015). Further, caution must be taken in implementing exclusion-focused strategies. Recent research into behaviour management, attendance and suspensions has highlighted an overrepresentation of marginalised groups of students (such as

students who have experienced trauma or students with disability) amongst suspended students (McCluskey et al., 2016; O'Brien & Trudgett, 2018). Such use of suspension and exclusion increasingly places students at risk of disengagement and reduced wellbeing (McCluskey et al., 2016).

Research overwhelmingly demonstrates the importance of relationships and interpersonal trust in building a productive learning culture (Day et al., 2016; Dinham, 2016; Hancock & Zubrick, 2015; Hattie et al., 2015; Leithwood et al., 2004; Leithwood, 2011; Louis et al., 2016; Miles & Ferris, 2015; Robinson, 2007; Rodríguez, 2008; Sammons et al., 1995; Taylor & Parsons, 2011). These relationships can extend to others beyond the school (Hancock & Zubrick, 2015; Scott, 2015). Evidence from students highlights the importance of personalised and trusting teacher-student relationships to students' schooling experience and engagement (Hancock & Zubrick, 2015; Rodríguez, 2008). Students specifically identified the importance of teacher support for academic as well as non-academic individual needs. A school culture where teachers 'looked out for students' and made students feel they were there to help them realise their potential was associated with higher student success (Rodríguez, 2008). Positive teacher-student relationships have also been found to be associated with student engagement and achievement. Specifically, meta-analytic evidence from primary and secondary schools suggests that teacher-student relationships directly impact student achievement, with student engagement identified as a mediating factor (Roorda et al., 2017). Research shows that strengthening positive teacher-student relationships appears especially important for students at risk of disengagement (McGrath & Van Bergen, 2015; Roorda et al., 2011).

The role of school leaders in developing and maintaining a productive school culture is critical. This requires building of trusting relationships, both within and beyond the school (Harris et al., 2013). School leaders can use a variety of creative ways to build a productive culture and enhance student engagement. For example, the Sadadeen primary school case study described by Hattie et al. (2015) shows the powerful impact of a school garden on student interest, engagement and attendance, which in turn fostered productive community partnerships. Research also highlights the importance of mutual respectful relationships between teachers and students from different cultural and linguistic backgrounds (Hattie et al., 2015). Use of culturally appropriate approaches to communication, including use of language spoken by families of students, is a useful way to cultivate parental trust and engagement in their child's schooling (Garza et al., 2014). Consistent with a positive approach to enhancing student engagement, research highlights the importance of celebrating publicly student success in a broad range of domains including behaviour in fostering a learning culture (Dinham, 2016).

Research in relation to school culture and student engagement also highlights the importance of student voice. Attending to student voice can have many benefits, including enhancing student feelings of belonging and connectedness to the school (Dinham, 2016; Harris et al., 2013; Hattie et al., 2015; Rodríguez, 2008; Taylor & Parsons, 2011), students feeling increasing ownership of their learning and reduced dependence on teacher guidance, as well as improved pedagogical practice (Hattie et al., 2015).

Domain 4 Targeting school resources

How school physical and human resources are allocated and used is of critical importance to student engagement, wellbeing, and learning. Resources need to be allocated in a differentiated way to enable equitable access to the full curriculum for all students, regardless of their needs, background or the school's location (Jackson, 2019). Research suggests that novice teachers are more often assigned to disadvantaged or lower-achieving students than their more senior colleagues, which may be detrimental to both teacher retention and student learning. More effective schools tend to be more strategic in assigning teachers to classes where they can have maximum impact and provide most benefit to the school (Loeb et al., 2012). Research in the Queensland context (DAE, 2018) shows that how school leaders allocate resources is influenced by the school's vision for student engagement and achievement, as well as contextual factors. Schools allocated resources in proactive and reactive ways to optimise student engagement. Research suggests that a proactive allocation of resources is more efficient, given the resource-intensive nature of addressing disengagement through remediation programs (Hancock & Zubrick, 2015). Whenever schools more clearly defined strategic priorities for student engagement, resources were allocated more effectively (DAE, 2018).

Glover and Levačić (2020) outline key principles for the use of resources in schools, which are relevant to optimising student engagement and wellbeing. These include:

- Adequacy: resources need to be adequate to enable schools to meet minimum standards as prescribed by different levels of the education system, ensuring equality of opportunity by accounting for students' differential needs.
- Effectiveness: the extent to which a school is successful in meeting its objectives.
- Efficiency: the extent to which a school can successfully meet its objectives at minimum cost.
- Value for money: the combination of effectiveness and efficiency and careful management of resources to ensure best-value.
- Transparency: clarity on how resources have been allocated, which play an important role in accountability.
- Equity: fair treatment given the school's context and student needs. For example, students from disadvantaged backgrounds may require additional support.

Domain 5 Building an expert teaching team

Student learning is maximised in classrooms where teachers use lesson time, resources, and space efficiently, and manage student behaviour. These aspects provide necessary conditions for good learning, but only have an indirect impact on student outcomes (Coe et al., 2014). Research overwhelmingly shows the importance of teacher professional learning for student engagement, defined as "the formal and informal learning experiences undertaken by teachers and school leaders that improve their individual professional practice and the school's collective effectiveness as measured by improved student engagement and learning outcomes." (Cole, 2012, p. 6). Teachers also need to be able to confidently implement teaching strategies for vulnerable students or students who have fallen behind (Sonnemann & Goss, 2020). Handling disengaged students was identified as a top challenge for beginning teachers. This suggests that teacher capability in maximising student engagement is a critical area for teacher professional learning (DAE, 2018; Goss & Sonnemann, 2017). Beginning teachers require targeted support for developing the nuanced skills required to engage and manage students, which can be developed in collaboration with more expert colleagues. For example, formalised support through collaboration, mentoring, coaching, peer observation and feedback are impactful ways to enhance teacher capability in supporting student motivation and engagement. Research has also demonstrated the potential of building teacher leadership for enhancing student engagement (Campbell et al., 2015).

Domain 6 Leading systematic curriculum implementation

Research shows the importance of allowing sufficient time for covering curriculum content, thus providing opportunity to learn. Yet, the amount of time students engage in learning is a much stronger predictor of achievement outcomes (Leithwood, 2011). Sufficient time needs to be allocated to ensure students can engage in learning foundational subject knowledge and skills as well as explore their (extra-curricular) interests (Miles & Ferris, 2015). Moreover, engaging curricula focus on cross-curricular connections and 21st century skills (Taylor & Parsons, 2011). This is critical as research highlights that the holistic development of students occurs through extra-curricular and co-curricular offerings (O'Flaherty & McCormack, 2019). Leithwood et al. (2004) warned that there is a tendency for schools to narrow curriculum delivery for disadvantaged students, focusing on 'the basics'. However, access to the curriculum on the exposure to the full curriculum is essential to student engagement in learning and their future

participation in society. Further, research highlights the importance of valuing student success beyond academic and sporting achievements (Noble & McGrath, 2010).

Ensuring that the curriculum is relevant to learners and resonates with their day-to-day life experiences appears critical to student engagement in their learning (CESE, 2015a; Colao et al., 2020; Gettinger & Walter, 2012; Gibbs & Poskitt, 2010; Taylor & Parsons, 2011). For example, teachers may focus on topics that interest students, build on prior knowledge, provide opportunities for collaborative learning and engage students in case studies or problem-based learning (Colao et al., 2020; Gibbs & Poskitt, 2010). For example, solving authentic problems or community issues engages students and builds a sense of purpose for learning (Dunleavy & Milton, 2009). Teachers can also make curricular content more relevant and engaging for students by clarifying short-term as well as long-term learning goals (Gibbs & Poskitt, 2010; Scott, 2015). Flexible programming may be beneficial to sustain student engagement across the school year. Curriculum flexibility is also associated with other benefits that are not directly reflected in student achievement outcomes. For example, greater curriculum flexibility affords students more opportunity for agency, deep learning and can greatly enhance their overall motivation to learn (Jackson, 2019). Research has also demonstrated the positive impact of providing opportunities for social and emotional learning on student engagement, behaviour and attendance (CESE, 2015b).

Teachers may tailor curriculum content to be inclusive of students' various cultural backgrounds. In addition, implementing curricula in a way that draws cross-disciplinary connections can make learning more meaningful for students. Secondary students reported that cross-disciplinary learning resulted in higher student engagement and more learning. This finding was particularly evident in cases where curriculum was planned in a way that was compatible with specific student needs and strengths, for example by using group work to help boost confidence of students for whom English is not a first language (Moss et al., 2019).

Extra-curricular programs can have a small positive impact on student achievement (d = 0.17) and appear important to student engagement and behaviour in school (Hattie, 2009). For example, studying creative drama or arts was associated with slightly improved student achievement in other curriculum areas. It seems that the involvement in these curricular areas is beneficial to student engagement in schooling overall, which in turn positively affects their achievement (Hattie, 2009). A challenging curriculum and the opportunity to engage in extra-curricular activities has also been associated with improved student feelings of connectedness to school (CESE, 2015b).

Domain 7 Differentiating teaching and learning

Research shows the importance of providing differentiated opportunities for learning as important to student engagement, wellbeing, and achievement (CESE, 2015b). Given the diverse nature of students within a classroom, proactively tailoring curriculum and instruction to students' "readiness, interest and learning profile" (p. 121) is critical to ensure all students can progress and experience success. Effective differentiation is particularly important to adequately address the needs of students for whom the language of instruction is a second language, students with disability, and gifted students (Tomlinson et al., 2003). Nevertheless, it must be acknowledged that differentiation has been conceptualised and operationalised in a variety of ways, not all of which align with core tenets of inclusive education (Deunk et al., 2018; Graham et al., 2021). Consequently, empirical evidence on the impact of differentiation on student engagement and achievement is conflicting.

Rather than reactively adjusting curriculum and instruction when issues arise, teachers need to plan for the needs of various learners (Tomlinson et al., 2003). Research highlights the need for teachers to take a strengths-based approach to differentiation, where teachers set high expectations and take responsibility for each student's progress (Tomlinson et al., 2003). In differentiating teaching and learning, teachers need to draw positively on the full range of information they have about students (Queensland Department of Education, 2019). This may require differentiating assessment to enable students to demonstrate their capability (Sonnemann & Goss, 2020; Tomlinson et al., 2003), and to best enable teachers to ascertain gaps in learning and plan for targeted interventions (Sonnemann & Goss, 2020). Teachers may modify curriculum content and learning activities to suit learners' needs and interests (Hancock & Zubrick, 2015; Scott, 2015). Such personalisation of teaching and learning in a way that makes it meaningful is critical to student engagement and motivation (Scott, 2015). Ensuring that all students are appropriately challenged

and engaged and receive the necessary support to achieve the best possible outcomes is vital (Hattie, 2012). This is closely related to setting high expectations for all students, regardless of their starting points (CESE, 2015a; Hattie, 2012; Masters, 2013). In addition, the pace of instruction and curriculum coverage may be differentiated (Tomlinson et al., 2003). Research shows that differentiating instruction and assessment to meet individual student needs is critical to student engagement (CESE, 2015a). Teachers reported using ability groupings, individualised learning plans, extension activities and modified assessment tasks as approaches to differentiation. It must be noted that research highlights the criticality of not using fixed ability grouping as an approach to differentiation, which is not considered to be inclusive (Graham et al., 2021). In addition, research highlights the importance of implementing additional support/preventative interventions for students who are disengaged (CESE, 2017).

Importantly, teachers need to take a student-centred approach to differentiation (Tomlinson et al., 2003) to ensure students are actively involved in and can regulate their learning, which has been associated with increased levels of engagement and learning outcomes (Gibbs & Poskitt, 2010). This requires (co-)articulation of appropriately challenging learning goals and success criteria that provide opportunity for each student to achieve success (Gettinger & Walter, 2012; Gibbs & Poskitt, 2010; Tomlinson, 2008), which helps students monitor their progress towards learning goals (Gibbs & Poskitt, 2010; Tomlinson, 2008).

Some have argued that strong interpersonal relationships between students and teachers are necessary for teachers to be able to respond appropriately to students' needs (Hattie et al., 2015; Taylor & Parsons, 2011). For example, Dinham (2016) emphasised that teachers need to personally know their students and pay careful attention to individual student needs, as evidenced by, for example, changes in levels of engagement or health. Taylor and Parsons (2011) claimed that teachers need to have a "spirit of caring, empathy, generosity, respect, reciprocity and a genuine desire to know students personally" (p. 10).

Domain 8 Implementing effective pedagogical practices

The nature of teachers' pedagogical practices makes a critical difference when it comes to student engagement (Taylor & Parsons, 2011). Research evidence shows that while instructional time per se is moderately associated with student achievement outcomes, there is a strong association between the amounts of time spent engaged in learning by students and their academic outcomes (Leithwood, 2011). Evidence from the CESE (2017) analysis found that effective learning time was the most important facilitator of student achievement.

Effective pedagogy includes creating an environment in which students are engaged and motivated (Masters, 2011). Teachers can foster student engagement in learning by using learning tasks that are challenging, interesting, authentic and relevant to learners (Hattie, 2012; Scott, 2015; Taylor & Parsons, 2011). Consistent with research discussed in relation to other domains, research shows the importance of teachers setting high expectations for students, which has been linked to enhanced engagement and achievement (CESE, 2017). Using a range of pedagogical practices is a key mechanism to ensure that students are challenged, engaged, feel safe to expose their understandings and misunderstandings, and receive the necessary support to achieve the best possible outcomes (Hattie, 2012). Pedagogies need to focus on fostering student motivation, for example by ensuring learning tasks resonate with students or provide realistic or real-life scenarios (Scott, 2015). In addition, research highlights the importance of enabling learning through social interaction (Taylor & Parsons, 2011).

Pedagogical strategies need to foster students' sense of self-efficacy (CESE, 2017). Offering opportunity for goal setting, practice, revision and feedback help foster student interest and motivation. Feedback needs to be provided regularly, be timely, help students see their progress, and foster student confidence in their capability to continue to make progress (Masters, 2013).

Pedagogical approaches that foster student autonomy and voice have also been associated with increased interest and motivation (Hopkins, 2013). For example, teachers can engage in dialogues with students and use problem-based teaching strategies. Pedagogical practices that draw upon the potential powerful benefits of peer support, for example through peer feedback and providing motivational support, appear particularly beneficial for student engagement and achievement (Hattie, 2012). Research suggests that giving students some control over their learning is important for their motivation, but the direct effects on achievement outcomes appear minimal (Hattie, 2009).

Mourshed et al. (2017) conducted a large-scale quantitative analysis of PISA (Program for International Student Assessment) science data gathered in 72 countries across the world to identify which factors are most strongly associated with student achievement. Two findings were consistent across all regions in the world:

- 1 Students' mind-sets (including motivation and self-belief) were the strongest predictor of academic achievement
- 2 The best achievement outcomes were achieved in classrooms which were dominated by teacher-directed instruction and used some inquiry-based instruction.

Further, research shows that the purposeful use of technology for instruction can have positive effects on student achievement as well as engagement and attitudes (Hattie, 2009).

When used in a meaningful way, technology can provide many affordances for teaching 21st century skills in a way that is engaging for students (Scott, 2015; Taylor & Parsons, 2011). For example, it can enable opportunities for learning outside of the school context, draw on various types of resources from different platforms, or enable students to produce something new or share their learning, such as through social media (Scott, 2015).

Domain 9 Building school-community partnerships

Research has demonstrated many benefits of school-community partnerships for enhancing student engagement (Garza et al., 2014; Otero, 2016; Scott, 2015). School-community partnerships can have many benefits to either or both parties, depending on the purpose and nature of the partnership. Importantly, there needs to be a shared understanding about the partnership purpose and shared commitment to addressing barriers to student engagement. Benefits may relate to "social, intellectual, financial, psychological and performance" aspects (Lonsdale & Anderson, 2012, p. 2). For example, social benefits include stronger support networks, better understanding of student community contexts and improved connections between students and their families, community groups, and the school. An example of intellectual benefit is improved knowledge of stakeholders through sharing of expertise. In both these examples, students are likely to gain indirect benefit from the partnership, for example, through greater cultural awareness and modification of curricula and pedagogical approaches to be responsive to student needs or fostering parental support for students.

Numerous studies highlighted the importance of caring relationships and partnerships with others beyond the school, including with parents/carers and community organisations (DAE, 2018; Louis et al., 2016; Otero, 2016). Such relationships and partnerships can enhance students' feelings of connectedness at school (CESE, 2015b). For example, a study by Cole-Henderson (2000) amongst principals of high-performing schools serving disadvantaged student populations in the US highlighted the value of *site-based management* teams to meaningfully connect schools with their communities. These groups, consisting of "parents, community representatives, and administrators as well as instructional and noninstructional staff, both professional and nonprofessional" (p. 85) were typically involved in making a range of school policy decisions, including the creation of special programs or promotion of parental involvement. In addition, involving parents and the community in the school's change journey can help foster desirable student behaviours and study habits. Community members or groups may also play an important role as role models and in resolving conflicts (Jensen & Sonnemann, 2014). A study by Epstein and Sheldon (2002) highlighted the importance of family and community involvement in supporting student school attendance, one facet of student engagement. They highlighted the value of communication with families, assigning a school contact person to discuss attendance or other matters, family home visits, and attendance-related parent workshops.

Student wellbeing

Student wellbeing was conceptualised as "a sustainable state of positive mood and attitude, resilience, and satisfaction with self, relationships and experiences at school" (Noble et al., 2008, p. 7). This definition covers a holistic range of psychological, physical, social, spiritual and cognitive dimensions. Elements of students social and emotional wellbeing are self-awareness, self-management, social awareness, relationship skills, responsible decision making and resilience (Bernard et al., 2007; Durlak et al., 2011). Research shows that "Improved outcomes in all aspects of student wellbeing are positively associated with improved outcomes in all other aspects of schooling" (CESE, 2015b; Dinham, 2016; Dix et al., 2020; Durlak et al., 2011; Fraillon, 2004, p. 12; O'Connor et al., 2019; Otero, 2016). A successful whole-school model in social and emotional learning requires the SAFE principles of sequential, active, focused and explicit to be enacted for the curriculum and professional learning (Durlak et al., 2011; Vaughan, 2019). A strong implementation of SEL programs has been shown to be important for improving student outcomes (Dix et al., 2020; Durlak et al., 2011; Vaughan, 2019). This section provides a narrative outlining the research evidence specific to student wellbeing as aligned to each of the SIT domains.

Domain 1 Driving an explicit improvement agenda

Research overwhelmingly shows that a whole-of-school approach is "vital in effectively promoting emotional and social competence and student wellbeing" (CESE, 2015b; Dix et al., 2020; Fraillon, 2004; Hattie et al., 2015; Houghton & Anderson, 2017; Weare & Gray, 2003, p. 6). Schools need to have an articulated vision for student safety and wellbeing (Noble & McGrath, 2010; Roffey, 2012) and have appropriate systems in place, including mechanisms for communications and referral to internal and external support providers (Miles & Ferris, 2015). Whole-of-school positive behaviour management programs and pro-social values are highly recommended practices throughout the wellbeing literature (Dix et al., 2020). Such a whole-school approach should focus on strengthening of protective factors, as well as teaching students how to enhance their wellbeing (CESE, 2015b). Specifically, the development of "a shared vision of high standards and behaviours for the school" (CESE, 2015b, p. 6) was associated with improved student wellbeing. For example, whole-school programs that target development of social-emotional skills were found to be particularly effective for promoting student wellbeing, as well as literacy outcomes (Dix et al., 2020). The impact of such programs needs to be implemented and monitored over time. Research suggests that students from disadvantaged backgrounds particularly benefit from implementation of whole-school programs complemented by targeted programs (Dix et al., 2020). Importantly, supporting student wellbeing is the responsibility of every educator, and should not be seen as an add-on or an external expert's responsibility (Currie et al., 2012).

Domain 2 Analysing and discussing data

Research increasingly recognises the importance of using a range of data for improving practices within the school, including in relation to student wellbeing (Datnow & Park, 2018; Hattie et al., 2015; Lai & Schildkamp, 2013; Renshaw et al., 2015). This requires a broad conceptualisation of data which goes beyond student achievement on formal tests (Lai & Schildkamp, 2013; Renshaw et al., 2015), and may require collection of data that is harder to collect (Schildkamp, 2019). Further, it is important that examination of data focuses on moving beyond pre-existing beliefs of student capability, emphasizing capacity for all students to progress and teacher responsibility for student progress. To overcome equity issues, fruitful discussions of student achievement data should emphasize strengths and potential for improvement (Datnow & Park, 2018) to inform setting of realistic goals for every student (CESE, 2016).

Another key consideration in data use is student voice and agency (OECD, 2019b; Vaughan et al., 2019). Student agency can be defined as: "the capacity to set a goal, reflect and act responsibly to effect change. It is about acting rather than being acted upon; shaping rather than being shaped; and making responsible decisions and choices

rather than accepting those determined by others". (OECD, 2019b, p. 2). Agency can be thought of occurring in degrees that range from silence to that of shared decision making with adults (Department of Education and Training [Victoria], 2019; Hart, 1992; OECD, 2019b). Measuring student voice over time can help examine whether strategies have led to changes as perceived by students (CESE, 2016). Students can be involved in discussion, analysis and setting direction based on whole-school data sets (Vaughan et al., 2019).

Specific to research on the use of data walls, Adie et al. (2020) highlighted limited consideration of student agency. More broadly, Schildkamp (2019) highlighted the need for attention to the student role in data use. In addition, research highlights that schools need to carefully consider the ethical implications, privacy issues and psychological implications of publicly displaying student achievement data (Adie et al., 2020). In a more generic sense, research emphasises the importance of using data in ways that respect student and family privacy (CESE, 2016).

Domain 3 Promoting a culture of learning

Numerous studies highlighted the importance of the school culture in supporting student wellbeing and learning. A healthy balance between focusing on academic aspects of learning and student wellbeing and personal welfare appears critical (Dinham, 2016). A school culture that fosters student wellbeing is characterised by collective responsibility for student wellbeing across the school (Cole, 2012; Dinham, 2016) and strong relationships within the school and with the broader school community, including families (CESE, 2015b; Garza et al., 2014; Hattie et al., 2015; Otero, 2016; Roffey, 2012). This enhances students' sense of belonging, which functions as a critical protective factor to their health, wellbeing and engagement in education (Allen et al., 2018; CESE, 2015b). Specifically, teacher support has been highlighted as a critical mechanism for influencing student feelings of belonging and wellbeing in schools (Allen et al., 2018). In addition, a sense of shared responsibility amongst school staff can be developed by fostering positive relationships where colleagues provide emotional and practical support to deal with diverse and overwhelming issues (Roffey, 2012).

Student wellbeing is fostered by school cultures which are emotionally safe. This means that they are free from negative behaviours (such as bullying) and promote positive behaviours that are associated with improved mental wellbeing, including a focus on healthy lifestyle choices (CESE, 2015b). Setting and communicating school-wide expectations for student success was identified as one important approach to shaping a school's culture (Garza et al., 2014). Classroom management strategies or programs and interventions focused on student social-emotional development can enhance students' academic, behavioural and social-emotional outcomes (Korpershoek et al., 2016). Further, research highlights the importance of creating physical and virtual environments where students feel they are safe and belong as foundational to successful learning (Matthews & Lippman, 2016).

Domain 4 Targeting school resources

In addition to the evidence for Domain 4 discussed in relation to student engagement, research specific to student wellbeing is discussed briefly next.

A key research finding is the need to implement long-term preventative wellbeing programs, which are more effective compared to remediation programs that are only implemented for 'at risk' students (Noble et al., 2008). Such universal programs reduce stigma associated with wellbeing interventions (Dix et al., 2020). A meta-analysis of 213 school-based initiatives identified that adequate program implementation of universal programs is essential to see improved student outcomes (Durlak et al., 2011). As such, research highlights the importance of supporting school staff in implementing wellbeing programs (Durlak et al., 2011; Evidence for Learning, 2020, p. 35).

Domain 5 Building an expert teaching team

Professional learning is a key mechanism to build an expert teaching team. Professional learning, sometimes referred to as professional development, is effective to the extent that it results in great pedagogy, which in turn can result in improved student outcomes, including higher achievement and improved wellbeing (Stoll et al., 2012). The key focus of professional learning should therefore be on making a difference to student outcomes in the broadest sense, including student wellbeing. Teachers' capability in supporting student wellbeing can effectively be enhanced by implementing opportunities for professional learning such as through mentoring, coaching and feedback on practice. As such, research highlights the importance of school leader roles in facilitation of building an expert teaching team, by ensuring opportunities are provided for observation, collaboration and feedback (Goss & Sonnemann, 2017). A systematic review of wellbeing programs suggested that those delivered by well-trained teachers were more impactful than those delivered by external facilitators (Dix et al., 2020). This highlights the importance of teacher professional learning in supporting student wellbeing. Importantly, some students may require access to expert support, requiring schools to have appropriate structures and processes in place (Queensland Department of Education, 2019).

Domain 6 Leading systematic curriculum implementation

Research on curriculum implementation highlights the interrelatedness of student engagement, wellbeing and learning outcomes. For example, CESE (2015b) emphasised that providing differentiated opportunities for learning is important to foster student engagement in their learning, which is critical to their wellbeing and academic outcomes (CESE, 2015b). Accordingly, there has been a shift across curricula internationally reflecting a move away from a focus on academic outcomes, to a focus on processes of learning and wellbeing of students. A recent OECD publication articulated a vision for student learning in 2030 (OECD, 2019a, cited in OECD, 2020), emphasising the importance of student agency, physical wellbeing as a core foundation, and social and emotional skills such as resilience. In addition, the OECD (2020) highlighted the importance of parental support for student learning, attitudes and wellbeing, emphasising the need for schools to communicate curricular expectations to parents and involve them as partners in schooling of their children. In addition, there is increasing recognition that students progress through the curriculum in non-linear ways (OECD, 2020). This has resulted in another international trend of greater responsibility for curricular planning on schools and teachers, who are required to flexibly implement curriculum in a way that best meets the needs of their students. In addition, research highlights the value of integrating mental health education and student-centred health literacy to be integrated as part of the curriculum (Colao et al., 2020).

Effective in the implementation of wellbeing programs is the use of a SAFE curriculum: Sequential, Active, Focused and Explicit (Durlak et al., 2011; Evidence for Learning, 2020). This can be enacted through (Durlak et al., 2011; Vaughan, 2019):

- a sequential step-by-step-training approach
- · active forms of learning
- a focus on skill development
- explicit learning goals.

To implement a systematic SAFE curriculum, there needs to be the sequential step-by-step building of skills across lessons and year groups (Durlak et al., 2011; Evidence for Learning, 2020). A balance of teacher-led active forms of learning such as discussion, small group work and role play to practice skills is important, and brief frequent instruction is more effective than infrequent long sessions (Durlak et al., 2011; Evidence for Learning, 2020). In a primary school setting a lesson of 30-60 minutes per week has been shown to be effective (Sanchez et al., 2018).

Domain 7 Differentiating teaching and learning

In addition to the evidence for Domain 7 discussed in relation to student engagement, research specific to student wellbeing is discussed briefly next.

Research on differentiation highlights the need to use a tiered approach in supporting students with their differing needs in wellbeing. A useful frame of reference when linking to wellbeing and learning and school improvement is the MTSS (Graham et al., 2020).

Essentially, this framework focuses on targeting instruction, intervention and school improvement to best address student academic, social/emotional and behavioural needs.

- Tier 1: Universal instruction and supports; these practices target all students; they need to be evidence-informed and high quality
- Tier 2: targeted or secondary supports that are provided for those who require additional support based on evidence of outcomes in response to Tier 1
- Tier 3: Only provided to a small number of students who continue to show a need for additional support. This is usually intense and highly individualised support, but the nature of the support will need to be informed by evidence on a case-by-case basis.

A key point in relation to Tier 2 is that these supports do not replace Tier 1 supports, but rather, are provided in addition to these supports.

Domain 8 Implementing effective pedagogical practices

See evidence for Domain 8 discussed in relation to student engagement.

Domain 9 Building school-community partnerships

Research on school-community partnerships has revealed many benefits associated with improved student wellbeing (Roffey, 2012). Reported benefits include improved lifestyle habits, improved confidence and self-esteem, a more positive mindset and increased awareness of community (Lonsdale & Anderson, 2012). Engagement of community partners to provide certain services at schools was identified as contributing to student wellbeing (CESE, 2015b). For example, integrated support initiatives may connect students, schools, families and support services to ensure the necessary prerequisites for successful learning are in place. As such, school-community partnerships can ensure students are provided with the necessary foundations, resources and supports for success in school and beyond (Moore et al., 2017). Importantly, there needs to be a shared understanding about the purpose of the partnership, as well as a mutual commitment to optimising student wellbeing.

Summary

The School Improvement Tool Elaborations: Student engagement and wellbeing were developed to describe the evidence-based practices that lift student engagement and wellbeing, alongside academic gain, as aligned with each of the 9 School Improvement Tool domains. The literature review that informed the development of the elaborations highlights the strong interrelatedness of student engagement, wellbeing and learning outcomes. Our synthesis succinctly outlines the evidence relating to whole-of-school approaches to student engagement and wellbeing as aligned with the 9 SIT domains.

A total of 88 elaborations have been developed across the 9 SIT domains. Each elaboration provides sufficient specificity to guide practice, whilst requiring tailored application within the relevant context. The elaborations are designed to be read in conjunction with the characteristics in each domain to provide further specificity about practices that promote student engagement and wellbeing.

The review of empirical evidence showed the following cross-cutting themes that support student engagement and wellbeing:

- A whole-of-school approach
- Caring school leadership
- Embedding programs, strategies and initiatives in the curriculum
- Listening to, and acting on, student voice
- Including families, carers and service providers in the design of programs and strategies
- Incorporating authentic learning to support positive experiences for all students.

The elaborations can support the work of systems, teachers, leaders and school reviewers internationally to optimise their support for student engagement and wellbeing in a targeted and coherent manner.

References

- Adie, L., Harris, L., & Wyatt-Smith, C. (2020). Examining research into the use of data walls for teaching and learning: How are they being implemented within data use cycles? *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 89, 103012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2019.103012
- Allen, K., Kern, M. L., Vella-Brodrick, D., Hattie, J., & Waters, L. (2018). What schools need to know about fostering school belonging: A meta-analysis. *Educational Psychology Review*, 30, 1–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-016-9389-8
- Bernard, M. E., Stephanou, A., & Urbach, D. (2007). *Australian Scholarships Group (ASG) Student Social and Emotional Health Report*. Australian Council for Educational Research. https://research.acer.edu.au/well_being/22
- Campbell, C., Lieberman, A., & Yashkina, A. (2015). Teachers leading educational improvements: Developing teachers' leadership, improving practices, and collaborating to share knowledge. *Leading and managing*, 21(2), 90-105. https://search.informit.org/doi/10.3316/informit.164620745291794
- Centre for Education Statistics & Evaluation (CESE). (2015a). *High value-add schools: Key drivers of school improvement*. New South Wales Government. https://www.cese.nsw.gov.au/images/stories/PDF/HVA-Report-August-2015_FA_AA.pdf
- Centre for Education Statistics & Evaluation (CESE). (2015b). *Student wellbeing: Literature review.* New South Wales Government. https://www.cese.nsw.gov.au/images/stories/PDF/student_wellbeing_LR_AA.pdf
- Centre for Education Statistics and Evaluation (CESE). (2016). Capturing and measuring student voice. *Learning Curve*, 15. https://www.cese.nsw.gov.au/images/stories/PDF/Capturing_and_Measuring_Student_Voice_LC_v12.pdf
- Centre for Education Statistics and Evaluation (CESE). (2017). Improving high school engagement, classroom practices and achievement. *Learning Curve*, 18. https://education.nsw.gov.au/content/dam/main-education/about-us/educational-data/cese/2017-improving-high-school-engagement.pdf
- Coe, R., Aloisi, C., Higgins, S., & Major, L. E. (2014). What makes great teaching? Review of the underpinning research. Centre for Evaluation & Monitoring, Durham University and the Sutton Trust. https://www.suttontrust.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/What-Makes-Great-Teaching-REPORT.pdf
- Colao, A., Piscitelli, P., Pulimeno, M., Colazzo, S., Miani, A., & Giannini, S. (2020). Rethinking the role of the school after COVID-19. *The Lancet Public Health*, 5(7), e370. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(20)30124-9
- Cole, P. (2012, September). *Aligning professional learning, performance management and effective teaching.* Centre for Strategic Education.
- Cole-Henderson, B. (2000). Organizational characteristics of schools that successfully serve low-income urban African American students. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk*, 5(1–2), 77–91. https://doi.org/10.10824669.2000.9671381
- Currie, C., Zanotti, C., Morgan, A., & Currie, D. (2012). Social determinants of health and wellbeing among young people. Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) study: International report from the 2009/2010 survey. WHO Regional Office for Europe. https://hbsc.org/publications/reports/social-determinants-of-health-and-well-being-among-young-people/
- Datnow, A., & Park, V. (2018). Opening or closing doors for students? Equity and data use in schools. *Journal of Educational Change*, 19, 131–152. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10833-018-9323-6
- Day, C., Gu, Q., & Sammons, P. (2016). The impact of leadership on student outcomes: How successful school leaders use transformational and instructional strategies to make a difference. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 52(2), 221–258. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161X15616863

- Deloitte Access Economics (DAE). (2018). Engagement capability building. Final report.
- Department of Education and Training. (2019). *Amplify: Empowering students through voice, agency and leadership.* https://www.education.vic.gov.au/school/teachers/teachingresources/practice/improve/Pages/amplify.aspx
- Deunk, M. I., Smale-Jacobse, A. E., de Boer, H., Doolaard, S., & Bosker, R. J. (2018). Effective differentiation practices: A systematic review and meta-analysis of studies on the cognitive effects of differentiation practices in primary education. *Educational Research Review, 24*, 31–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2018.02.002
- Dinham, S. (2016). Leading learning and teaching. ACER Press.
- Dix, K., Ahmed, S. K., Carslake, T., Sniedze-Gregory, S., O'Grady, E., & Trevitt, J. (2020). A systematic review of intervention research examining effective student wellbeing in schools and their academic outcomes. Evidence for Learning. https://evidenceforlearning.org.au/education-evidence/evidence-reviews/student-health-and-wellbeing
- Dunleavy, J., & Milton, P. (2009). What did you do in school today? Exploring the concept of student engagement and its implications for teaching and learning in Canada. Canadian Education Association. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED506503.pdf
- Durlak, J. A., Weissberg, R. P., Dymnicki, A. B., Taylor, R. D., & Schellinger, K. B. (2011). The impact of enhancing students' social and emotional learning: A meta-analysis of school-based universal interventions. *Child development*, 82(1), 405-432. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01564.x
- Epstein, J. L., & Sheldon, S. B. (2002). Present and accounted for: Improving student attendance through family and community involvement. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 95(5), 308–318. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220670209596604
- Evidence for Learning. (2020). *Improving social and emotional learning in primary schools*. https://evidenceforlearning.org.au/guidance-reports/social-and-emotional-learning/
- Fraillon, J. (2004). Measuring student well-being in the context of Australian schooling: discussion paper. Australian Council for Educational Research. https://research.acer.edu.au/well_being/8
- Fredricks, J. A., Blumenfeld, P. C., & Paris, A. H. (2004). School engagement: Potential of the concept, state of the evidence. *Review of Educational Research*, 74(1), 59–109. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543074001059
- Fullan, M., & Hargreaves, A. (2016). Bringing the profession back in: Call to action. Learning Forward.
- Garza, E., Drysdale, L., Gurr, D., Jacobson, S., & Merchant, B. (2014). Leadership for school success: Lessons from effective principals. *International Journal of Educational Management*, *28*(7), 798–811. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEM-08-2013-0125
- Gersch, I. (2009). A positive future for educational psychology if the profession gets it right. *Educational Psychology in Practice*, 25(1), 9–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/02667360802697555
- Gettinger, M., & Walter, M. J. (2012). Classroom strategies to enhance academic engaged time. In S. L. Christenson, A. L. Reschly, & C. Wylie (Eds.), *Handbook of research on student engagement* (pp. 653–674). Springer.
- Gibbs, R., & Poskitt, J. (2010). Student engagement in the middle years of schooling (Years 7-10): A literature review. Ministry of Education New Zealand. https://nzcurriculum.tki.org.nz/content/download/4911/70679/file/940_Student%20Engagement.pdf
- Glover, D., & Levačić, R. (2020). *Educational resource management: An international perspective*. University College London. https://muse.jhu.edu/book/81852
- Goss, P., & Hunter, J. (2015). *Targeted teaching: How better use of data can improve student learning*. Grattan Institute. https://grattan.edu.au/report/targeted-teaching-how-better-use-of-data-can-improve-student-learning/
- Goss, P., & Sonnemann, J. (2017). *Engaging students: Creating classrooms that improve learning*. Grattan Institute. https://grattan.edu.au/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Engaging-students-creating-classrooms-that-improve-learning.pdf

- Graham, L. J., de Bruin, K., Lassig, C., & Spandagou, I. (2021). A scoping review of 20 years of research on differentiation: Investigating conceptualisation, characteristics, and methods used. *Review of Education*, 9(1), 161–198. https://doi.org/10.1002/rev3.3238
- Graham, L. J., McCarthy, T., Killingly, C., Tancredi, H., & Poed, S. (2020). *Inquiry into suspension, exclusion and expulsion processes in South Australian government schools. Final report*. The Centre for Inclusive Education, QUT.
- Hancock, K., & Zubrick, S. (2015). *Children and young people at risk of disengagement from school: literature review.*Report prepared for the Commissioner for Children and Young People, Western Australia. https://ccyp.wa.gov.au/media/1422/report-education-children-at-risk-of-disengaging-from-school-literature-review.pdf
- Harris, J., Caldwell, B., & Longmuir, F. (2013). *Literature review: A culture of trust enhances performance*. Australian Institute for Teaching and School Leadership. https://www.aitsl.edu.au/docs/default-source/default-document-library/insights---literature-review---a-culture-of-trust-enhances-performance.pdf
- Hart, R. A. (1992). *Children's participation: From tokenism to citizenship*. UNICEF International Child Development Centre. https://www.unicef-irc.org/publications/pdf/childrens_participation.pdf
- Hattie, J. (2009). Visible learning: A synthesis of meta-analyses in education. Routledge.
- Hattie, J. (2012). Visible learning for teachers: Maximizing impact on learning. Routledge.
- Hattie, J., Masters, D., & Birch, K. (2015). Visible learning into action: International case studies of impact. Routledge.
- Hopkins, D. (2013). Exploding the myths of school reform. *School Leadership & Management 33*, 304–321. https://doi.org/10.1080/13632434.2013.793493
- Houghton, A., & Anderson, J. (2017). Embedding mental wellbeing in the curriculum: Maximising success in higher education. *Higher Education Academy, 68*, 43. https://www.heacademy.ac.uk/system/files/hub/download/embedding_wellbeing_in_he.pdf
- Jackson, J. (2019). *Balancing prescriptiveness and flexibility in the school curriculum*. Australian Council for Educational Research. https://research.acer.edu.au/nswcurriculumreview/4
- Jensen, B., & Sonnemann, J. (2014). *Turning around schools: It can be done.* Grattan Institute. https://grattan.edu.au/report/turning-around-schools-it-can-be-done
- Korpershoek, H., Harms, T., de Boer, H., van Kuijk, M., & Doolaard, S. (2016). A meta-analysis of the effects of classroom management strategies and classroom management programs on students' academic, behavioral, emotional, and motivational outcomes. *Review of Educational Research*, 86(3), 643–680. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654315626799
- Lai, M. K., & Schildkamp, K. (2013). Data-based decision making: An overview. In K. Schildkamp, M. K. Lai & L. Earl (Eds.), *Data-based decision making in education: Challenges and opportunities* (pp. 9–22). Springer.
- Leithwood, K. (2011). Core practices: The four essential components of the leader's repertoire. In K. Leithwood & K. Louis (Eds.), *Linking leadership to student learning* (pp. 57–67). Wiley.
- Leithwood, K., Louis, K. S., Anderson, S., & Wahlstrom, K. (2004). *Review of research: How leadership influences student learning*. University of Minnesota, The University of Toronto, and The Wallace Foundation. https://www.wallacefoundation.org/knowledge-center/Documents/How-Leadership-Influences-Student-Learning.pdf
- Loeb, S., Kalogrides, D., & Béteille, T. (2012). Effective schools: Teacher hiring, assignment, development, and retention. *Education Finance and Policy*, 7(3), 269–304. https://doi.org/10.1162/EDFP_a_00068
- Lonsdale, M., & Anderson, M. (2012). *Preparing 21st Century learners: The case for school-community collaborations*. Australian Council for Educational Research. https://research.acer.edu.au/policy_analysis_misc/16
- Louis, K. S., Murphy, J., & Smylie, M. (2016). Caring leadership in schools: Findings from exploratory analyses. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, *52*(2), 310–348. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161X15627678
- Masters, G. N. (2011). *The hard work of improvement*. Australian Council for Educational Research. <a href="https://research.australian-https

- Masters, G. N. (2013). *Reforming educational assessment: Imperatives, principles and challenges*. Australian Council for Educational Research. https://research.acer.edu.au/aer/12
- Masters, G. N. (2016a). *National School Improvement Tool*. Australian Council for Educational Research. https://research.acer.edu.au/tll_misc/18
- Masters, G. N. (2016b). *Schools as learning organisations*. Australian Council for Educational Research. https://research.acer.edu.au/eppc/EPPC2016/keynote/1
- Matthews, E., & Lippman, P. C. (2016). The physical environment of early childhood centers: A case study in the use of break-out spaces. *International Journal for Cross-Disciplinary Subjects in Education*, 7(2), 2774–2781. https://doi.org/10.20533/ijcdse.2042.6364.2016.0378
- McAleavy, T., & Elwick, A. (2016). *School improvement in London: A global perspective*. Education Development Trust. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED565743.pdf
- McCluskey, G., Riddell, S., Weedon, E., & Fordyce, M. (2016). Exclusion from school and recognition of difference. *Discourse*, 37(4), 529–539. https://doi.org/10.1080/01596306.2015.1073015
- McGrath, K. F., & Van Bergen, P. (2015). Who, when, why and to what end? Students at risk of negative student-teacher relationships and their outcomes. *Educational Research Review, 14*, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2014.12.001
- McKenney, S., & Reeves, T. C. (2012). Conducting educational design research. Routledge.
- McKnight, L., & Morgan, A. (2020). A broken paradigm? What education needs to learn from evidence-based medicine. *Journal of Education Policy*, 35(5), 648–664. https://doi.org/10.1080/02680939.2019.1578902
- Miles, K. H., & Ferris, K. (2015). Designing schools that work: Organizing resources strategically for student success. Education Resource Strategies.
- Moore, K. A., Lantos, H., Jones, R., Schindler, A., Belford, J., & Sacks, V. (2017). *Making the grade: A progress report and next steps for integrated student supports* (Publication 2017-53). Child Trends. https://www.childtrends.org/publications/making-grade-progress-report-next-steps-integrated-student-supports
- Moss, J., Godinho, S. C., & Chao, E. (2019). Enacting the Australian Curriculum: Primary and secondary teachers' approaches to integrating the curriculum. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 44(3), 24-41. https://doi.org/10.14221/aite.2018v44n3.2
- Mourshed, M., Krawitz, M., & Dorn, E. (2017). How to improve student educational outcomes: New insights from data analytics. McKinsey. https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/education/our-insights/how-to-improve-student-educational-outcomes-new-insights-from-data-analytics
- Noble, T., & McGrath, H. (2010). The third pillar of the student wellbeing pedagogy: Positive educational practices, in R. Toomey (Ed.), *Teacher education and values pedagogy: A student wellbeing approach* (pp. 54–74). David Barlow Publishing.
- Noble, T., McGrath, H., Roffey, S., & Rowling, L. (2008). A scoping study on student wellbeing. Department of Education, Employment & Workplace Relations.
- O'Brien, G., & Trudgett, M. (2018). School house to big house. *Australian Journal of Indigenous Education*, 49(1), 98–106. https://doi.org/10.1017/jie.2018.13
- O'Connor, M., Cloney, D., Kvalsvig, A., & Goldfeld, S. (2019). Positive mental health and academic achievement in elementary school: New evidence from a matching analysis. *Educational Researcher*, 48(4), 205–216. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X19848724
- O'Flaherty, J., & McCormack, O. (2019). Student holistic development and the 'goodwill' of the teacher. *Educational Research*, 61(2), 123–141. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131881.2019.1591167
- OECD. (2019a). OECD Future of Education and Skills 2030: The OECD Learning Compass 2030. http://www.oecd.org/education/2030-project

- OECD. (2019b). Student agency for 2030 (OECD Future of Education and Skills 2030). https://www.oecd.org/education/2030-project/teaching-and-learning/student-agency/Student_Agency_for_2030_concept_note.pdf
- OECD. (2020). What students learn matters: Towards a 21st century curriculum. https://doi.org/10.1787/d86d4d9a-en
- Oliver, R. M., Wehby, J. H., & Reschly, D. J. (2011). Teacher classroom management practices: Effects on disruptive or aggressive student behavior. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, 7(1), 1-55. https://doi.org/10.4073/csr.2011.4
- Otero, G. (2016). Connecting school, family, and community: The power of positive relationships. Centre for Strategic Education.
- Queensland Department of Education. (2018). Student Learning and Wellbeing Framework. https://education.qld.gov.au/student/Documents/student-learning-wellbeing-framework.pdf
- Queensland Department of Education. (2019). *Youth engagement: Practice insights*. https://education.qld.gov.au/student-engagement/Documents/practice-insights-for-youth-engagement.pdf
- Renshaw, T. L., Long, A. C. J., & Cook, C. R. (2015). Assessing adolescents' positive psychological functioning at school: Development and validation of the Student Subjective Wellbeing Questionnaire. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 30(4), 534–552. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000088
- Robinson, V. (2007). School leadership and student outcomes: Identifying what works and why. Australian Council for Educational Leaders.
- Robinson, V., Bendikson, L., McNaughton, S., Wilson, A., & Zhu, T. (2017). Joining the dots: The challenge of creating coherent school improvement. *Teachers College Record, 119*(8), 1–44. https://doi.org/10.1177/016146811711900803
- Rodríguez, L. (2008). 'Teachers know you can do more': Understanding how school cultures of success affect urban high school students. *Educational Policy*, 22(5), 758–780. https://doi.org/10.1177/0895904807307070
- Roffey, S. (2012). Developing positive relationships in schools. In Roffey, S. (Ed.), *Positive relationships: Evidence-based practice across the world* (pp. 145–162). Springer.
- Rogers, C., van der Kleij, F., & Taylor-Guy, P. (2023). *School Improvement Tool: A summary of the underpinning research*. Australian Council for Educational Research. https://doi.org/10.37517/978-1-74286-691-8
- Roorda, D., Jak, S., Zee, M., Oort, F., & Koomen, H. (2017). Affective teacher-student relationships and students' engagement and achievement: A meta-analytic update and test of the mediating role of engagement. *School Psychology Review, 46*(3), 239–261. https://doi.org/10.17105/SPR-2017-0035.V46-3
- Roorda, D., Split, J., & Koomen, H. (2011). The influence of affective teacher-student relationships on students' school engagement and achievement: A meta-analytic approach. *Review of Educational Research*, 81(4), 493–529. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654311421793
- Sammons, P., Hillman, J., & Mortimore, P. (1995). Key characteristics of effective schools: A review of school effectiveness research. Institute of Education for the Office for Standards in Education. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED389826
- Sanchez, A., Cornacchio, D., Poznanski, B., Golik, A. M., Chou, T., & Comer, J. S. (2018). The effectiveness of school-based mental health services for elementary-aged children: A meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *57*(3), 153–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2017.11.022
- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., Burroughs, H., & Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: Exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & Quantity*, *52*(4), 1893–1907. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8
- Schildkamp, K. (2019). Data-based decision-making for school improvement: Research insights and gaps. *Educational Research*, *61*(3), 257–273, https://doi.org/10.1080/00131881.2019.1625716
- Scott, C. L. (2015). The Futures of Learning 3: What kind of pedagogies for the 21st century? UNESCO. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000243126

- Sharples, J., Albers, B., Fraser, S., Deeble, M., & Vaughan, T. (2019). *Putting evidence to work: A school's guide to implementation*. Evidence for Learning and the Education Endowment Foundation. https://evidenceforlearning.org.au/guidance-reports/putting-evidence-to-work-a-schools-guide-to-implementation/
- Sonnemann, J., & Goss, P. (2020, June). COVID catch-up: Helping disadvantaged students close the equity gap. Grattan Institute. https://grattan.edu.au/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/COVID-Catch-up-Grattan-School-Education-Report.pdf
- Stoll, L., Harris, A., & Handscomb, G. (2012). *Great professional development which leads to consistently great pedagogy: Nine claims from research.* National College for School Leadership.
- Taylor, L., & Parsons, J. (2011). Improving student engagement. *Current Issues in Education, 14*(1). https://cie.asu.edu/ojs/index.php/cieatasu/article/view/745/162
- Thessin, R. A. (2015). Identify the best evidence for school and student improvement. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 97(4), 69–73. https://doi.org/10.1177/0031721715619923
- Tomlinson, C. A. (2008). The goals of differentiation. *Educational Leadership*, 66(3), 26–30. https://www.ascd.org/el/articles/the-goals-of-differentiation
- Tomlinson, C. A., Brighton, C., Hertberg, H., Callahan, C. M., Moon, T. R., Brimijion, K., Conover, L. A., & Reynolds, T. (2003). Differentiating instruction in response to student readiness, interest, and learning profile in academically diverse classrooms: A review of literature. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 27(2–3), 119–145. https://doi.org/10.1177/016235320302700203
- Vaughan, T. (2019). Leading for improved social and emotional wellbeing. *Resources in Action, Leadership in Action,* 19, 1-2. http://www.acel.org.au/ACEL/RiA
- Vaughan, T., Cleary, J., & Butler, H. (2019). Students as partners in learning in rural and remote settings. *Australian Educational Leader*, 41(4). http://www.acel.org.au/ACEL/ACELWEB/Publications/AEL/View.aspx
- Vaughan, T., Howarth, S., Cartwright, S., & Cleary, J. (2020, June 22). Student agency in action in the Northern Territory. Teacher. https://www.teachermagazine.com.au/articles/student-agency-in-action-in-the-northern-territory
- Weare, K., & Gray, G. (2003). What works in developing children's emotional and social competence and wellbeing? The Health Education Unit Research and Graduate School of Education University of Southampton.
- Yoon, S. Y. (2016). Principals' data-driven practice and its influences on teacher buy-in and student achievement in comprehensive school reform models. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, 15(4), 500–523. https://doi.org/10.1080/15700763.2016.1181187

